1	IN THE SUPREME COURT	OF THE S	TATE	OF NEVADA
2				
3				
4 5	JAQUEZ DEJUAN BARBER,	)	NO.	Electronically Filed 68ep 11 2013 10:51 a.m Tracie K. Lindeman
6	Appellant,	)		Clerk of Supreme Cour
7	vs.	)		
9	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	)		
10	Respondent.	)		
11		)		
12	APPELLANT'S	<b>OPENING</b>	BRIE	<u>e</u>
13 14	(Appeal from Jud	gment of Co	nvictio	n)
15	PHILIP J. KOHN	STEVEN I	3. WOL	FSON
16	CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226		OUNT	Y DIST. ATTY.
17	Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685	Las Vegas. (702) 455-		a 89155
19	Attorney for Appellant	CATHERI	NE CO	RTEZ MASTO
20	in the state of th	Attorney C	eneral	
21		100 North Carson Cit		Street da 89701-4717
22		(775) 684-	•

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Jaquez challenges his convictions for the crimes of burglary and grand larceny arising out of a petition originally filed in juvenile court. Jaquez contends that the juvenile court lost jurisdiction of his case when it failed to render a final disposition with the one year time limit of NRS 62D.310. If the juvenile court did not have jurisdiction than the justice and district courts did not have jurisdiction when the case was certified. Even if the juvenile court had jurisdiction, the record shows that he did not make a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to proceed to a certification hearing.

Jaquez also challenges the sufficiency of the evidence, points out that his right to a speedy trial was violated by a delay of more than 2 years, argues

that the court's failure to adequately inquire into his requests for a new attorney violated his constitutional rights, notes that the State admitted hearsay testimony in violation of his right to confrontation when allowing the latent print examiner to testify to the opinions of other examiners, and argues that the court erred in refusing a defense offered jury instruction. Additionally, at sentencing, the court ordered an amount or restitution not supported by the evidence at trial and failed to name a victim in the judgment.

## JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

NRS 177.015 gives this Court jurisdiction to review this appeal from a jury verdict. The court filed the final judgment on 01/24/13 and Jaquez filed the notice of appeal on 02/15/13, within the 30 day time limit established by NRAP 4(b). I:112-17.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- THE CONVICTIONS MUST BE REVERSED BECAUSE THE DISTRICT COURT WAS WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO PROSECUTE THE CASE.
- JAQUEZ DID NOT MAKE A KNOWING AND INTELLIGENT WAIVER OF HIS RIGHT TO THE CERTIFICATION HEARING.
- III. DISMISSAL IS MANDATED BECAUSE THE COURT VIOLATED JAQUEZ'S RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL AND STATUTORY RIGHT TO A TRIAL IN 60 DAYS PURSUANT TO NRS 178.556.

12

13 14

15 16

17

18

19

20

21 22

23

24

25

26

27

1	IV. THE COURT ERRED BY NOT PROPERLY
2	CONDUCTING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING
3	REGARDING JAQUEZ'S MOTIONS ASKING FOR A NEW ATTORNEY OR SEEKING OTHER REMEDIES.
4	
5	V. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO CONVICT JAQUEZ OF BURGLARY AND GRAND LARCENY.
6	
7	VI. THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR AN ADVISORY VERDICT JURY INSTRUCTION.
8	
9	VII. THE COURT DENIED JAQUEZ THE RIGHT OF CONFRONTATION WHEN ALLOWING THE LATENT
10	PRINT EXAMINER TO TESTIFY TO THE CONCLUSION
11	OF OTHER PRINT EXAMINERS.
12	VIII. REVERSAL OF THE RESTITUTION ORDER IS
13	WARRANTED BECAUSE THE AWARD IS NOT BASED
14	ON THE VERDICT OR ON THE TESTIMONY OF THE ALLEGED VICTIMS; AND, THE COURT DID NOT
15	INCLUDE THE NAME OR NAMES OF THE ALLEGED
16	VICTIMS WITHIN THE JUDGMENT.
17	IX. EVEN IF THIS COURT DOES NOT FIND ANY ONE
18	SINGLE ERROR ENOUGH TO WARRANT REVERSAL,
19	JAQUEZ ASKS THIS COURT TO CONSIDER THE CUMULATIVE ERROR THAT OCCURRED AT HIS TRIAL.
20	
21	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
22	On 01/21/09, Aldegunda Mendoza contacted METRO to report a
23	burglary of her rental home. At the time of the call, there were no witnesses
24	to the incident and no example XVI-672
25	to the incident and no suspects. VI:672.
26	On 03/17/09, METRO identified Jaquez Barber, a juvenile, as a
27	possible suspect after a METRO print examiner claimed his palm print
28	Property and a second print print

matched a latent print recovered from the outside of the home. IV:668. At the time of the identification, Jaquez was in custody for another crime in the adult system, Case C253779. IV:711-21.

METRO sought an arrest warrant for Jaquez on 04/03/09 which the juvenile court issued on 05/12/09. It appears that the arrest warrant was received by METRO on 05/12/09 and possibly served by METRO on 05/12/09. IV:668-09; 675; 679-80. Also, on 05/12/09, the State filed a juvenile petition charging Jaquez with grand larceny and the burglary of Mendoza and Sergio Martin's home. IV:652-3.

The State waited more than a year (08/16/10), to bring Jaquez to Juvenile Justice Services and to file a Petition for Certification. IV: 665-68; 668-09; 675; 679-80. At the certification hearing on 09/27/10, Jaquez waived his right to challenge certification. IV:681-95. Thereafter, the juvenile court granted the State's request for certification. IV:690-94.

On 09/30/10, the State filed a criminal complaint in justice court charging Jaquez with burglary and grand larceny. I:001. Jaquez waived his right to a preliminary hearing but later decided to reject any negotiations in district court. I:002-6. Thereafter, the court set the case for trial. I:168-171.

Jacquez invoked his right to a speedy trial on 11/18/10. I:168-71. But the trial did not begin until almost two years later, on 10/09/12, even though

1.5 1.6

1.8

Jaquez never waived his rights to a speedy trial. During the two years, Jaquez asked for a new attorney or to represent himself several times. I:59-54;55-63; 64-70;192-93; 201-7; 210-11;212-14;218-221; 223-26228-231.

The trial began on 10/09/12 and lasted 3 days, with the jury returning a guilty verdict on both counts on 10/11/12.<sup>1</sup>

On 01/10/13, the court sentenced Jaquez to a term of 12 to 30 months on both counts, running the time concurrent. But the court ran the entire sentence consecutive to the sentence Jaquez received in Case C253779. Additionally, the court ordered Jaquez to pay \$7000 in restitution, a \$25 Administration fee, and awarded him 90 days of credit for time served. III:644-51.

The Judgment of Conviction was filed on 01/24/13 and the Notice of Appeal was filed on 02/15/13. I:112-17.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On 01/21/09, prior to 9:00 a.m., Aldegunda Mendoza left her home with her son to go to her daughter's school to attend a meeting. III:453-54; 477-70. No other family members remained in the home while she was gone that morning. III:454;474. Mendoza's husband, Sergio Martin, was at work

Trial Day 1 (10/09/12) at II:246-412; Trial Day 2 (10/10/12) at III:413-581; Trial Day 3 (10/11/12) at III:582-640; Verdict at I:111.

and her daughter was already at school. III:454. She locked all the doors when she left. III:454.

After the school meeting concluded at 10:30 a.m., she returned home to find the front door ajar. III: 454. Mendoza explained:

I tried to open the door, but the door was ajar. And then I entered and I noticed front door was open. It was full of water. And I noticed the drawers of my home, they were all ransacked. And then I ran outside. And I called law enforcement. III:454

Martin arrived home shortly thereafter. III:474.

The water Mendoza described during her testimony was in the backyard (not in the house) and caused by a broken water faucet. Mendoza saw a bucket underneath the back bathroom window and claimed "He stepped on [the faucet] in order to climb on the window." III:545 Mendoza said that when she left the house that morning, the bucket was not under the window, the window was not open, the back screen door was not open, and the water faucet was not broken. III:459.

Martin testified that he kept the bucket at the other corner of the yard.

III:470. Martin speculated that someone used the bucket to step inside the home and broke the water fixture. III:470.

Mendoza examined the inside of the home and found cash missing.

Mendoza and Martin said the \$4000 they had hidden in a sock in a drawer

(money that Martin planned to take to Mexico that same day) was stolen.

10 11

9

12

1.3 14

1.5 16

17

18 19

20

21

22 23

24 25

26 27

28

III:461;460. Another \$2000 that belonged to Mendoza's brother was also missing from the same drawer. III:461. Additionally, 10,000 in Mexican pesos was gone. III:465. Martin and Mendoza had no documentation to support their claim they were missing cash and pesos. III:465-67:469. Nothing else was missing from the home. III:466-68.

Officer Chad Shevlin responded to the 911 call. III:477-487. Upon checking the home, Shevlin found the back slider door open, an open bathroom window in the backyard with a bucket underneath the window, and a broken water spigot. II:480. Shevlin opined that the small bathroom window may have been the point-of-entry and the back slider door the exit. II:480; 486-87. He thought that "Whoever came in through the window pushed off the wall with their foot, landing on the tub ring, and that's how they entered the residence." III:480. However, he also admitted that he had other crime scenes where the suspect went inside the home from the back door and left through the front door. III:486-87.

Shevlin noticed that someone moved property around inside the home. III:848. Although the bedroom drawers were rummaged through, only cash was reported missing. III:481;483.

CSI Robbie Dahl and three people on a CSI ride-a-long responded to the home to process the scene. III:487-92. Dahl dusted for fingerprints and

1.7

photographs were taken. III:493-499. Dahl found prints inside and outside the home and on the jewelry box. III: 497-99.

Dahl allowed the three ride-a-longs access to the scene only to find out later that one of them, Michael Palmer, balanced himself in the bathroom shower stall and left fingerprints in the area thought to be the point-of-entry. III:515-19. Thus, the crime scene was contaminated and possible prints destroyed. III:518-19.

Dahl admitted other errors in the investigation. For instance, not all areas were dusted for prints. III:523. Even though the front door was found open when Mendoza returned home, Dahl did not dust for prints on the door. III:523. Also, Dahl saw dirt around the edges of the bathtub but he did not develop a footprint comparison because she believed the area was not good enough analysis. III:531.

Latent print examiner Kathryn Aoyama testified that eight readable prints were recovered. III:570. Four of the eight prints inside the home were unidentified to any suspects. III:570. The four unmatched prints were not entered into AFIS. III:572. Three of the prints inside the home belonged to Michael Palmer. III:548; 570. None of the palm or fingerprints found inside the home belonged to Jaquez. III:590. However, Aoyama identified one

palm print found outside the home by the rear bathroom entry as belonging to Jaquez. III:544.

The identification of Jaquez as a suspect through AFIS was a reverse hit: an AFIS hit sometime after it was entered into the system. III:574. The reverse hit occurred on or about 03/17/09, after Jaquez was arrested on 03/03/09 and processed in the adult system in Case 09F0443B (C253779), a case arising out of an incident occurring on 02/24/09. IV:652; 668-69; 711-20. Thus, the prints the police took when Jaquez was arrested on 03/17/09 resulted in an AFIS hit for the prior 01/21/09 incident.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE CONVICTIONS MUST BE REVERSED BECAUSE THE DISTRICT COURT WAS WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO PROSECUTE THE CASE.

## A. The juvenile court's jurisdiction over Jaquez began when the State filed a petition alleging a delinquent act.

On 03/17/09, METRO identified Jaquez Barber as a suspect in a burglary occurring on 01/21/09 and sought an arrest warrant on 04/03/09. IV:652; 668-69. Because Jaquez was less than 18 years of age at the time of the burglary and at the time of the request for a warrant, METRO obtained the warrant through juvenile court. See NRS 62A.030(1)(a); IV: 652; 668-69.

The juvenile court issued an arrest warrant on 05/12/09, the same day the State filed the delinquency petition against Jaquez in juvenile court.<sup>2</sup> IV:652-3;679-80. METRO received the arrest warrant on 05/12/09 and possibly served it the same day while Jaquez was in custody on his other case, C253779. IV:668-69; 675; 679-80.

"[T]he juvenile court has exclusive original jurisdiction over a child living or found within the county who is alleged or adjudicated to have committed a delinquent act." NRS 62B.330(1); NRS 62A.030. The crimes of burglary and grand larceny fall within the definition of a delinquent act. NRS 62B.330(2)(c). Thus, because Jaquez was under the age of 18 years and the petition filed alleged a delinquent act, the juvenile court gained original exclusive jurisdiction over Jaquez and the crimes the State alleged when the petition was filed on 05/12/09.

## B. The juvenile court lost jurisdiction over Jaquez and the petition after one year passed without the court making a final disposition.

Between 05/12/09 (the date the petition was filed) and 08/16/10 (the date the State requested certification proceedings), the State did nothing on

The actual petition indicates it was signed on 02/15/08 but filed on 05/12/09. IV:652-53. The date of the incident is 01/21/09. The words "Arrest Warrant" are typed on the Petition. IV: 652-3; 700-91.

Jaquez's case. Thus, more than 15 months passed before the State proceeded on the petition. During this entire time Jaquez remained in State custody.<sup>3</sup>

On 08/16/10, the juvenile court granted the State's request for a certification hearing and ordered the proceedings in Jaquez's case stayed to allow the Juvenile Probation Department time to prepare a report for a certification hearing. IV:677-788. Jaquez was brought to juvenile court on 09/13/19. VI:704. The juvenile court held the certification hearing on 09/27/10. IV:681-95.

Whether the juvenile court maintains jurisdiction of a juvenile petition after the one year time limit of NRS 62D.310 passes is an issue of first impression for this Court. Although the issue of jurisdiction was not challenged in juvenile court or district court, this Court can sua sponte consider jurisdictional issues. *Landreth v. Malik*, 127 Nev. Adv. Op. No. 16, 251 P.3d 163, 166 (2011) *citing Swan v. Swan*, 106 Nev. 464, 469 (1990) (holding "[W]hether a court lacks subject matter jurisdiction 'can be raised

The judge issued the arrest warrant in juvenile court on 05/12/09. IV:679. The police officer who prepared the affidavit and requested the arrest warrant said Jaquez was arrested on 03/03/09 in another case (C253779); and, when his fingerprints were put into the AFIS system, METRO received a match indicating that he was a suspect in the case at bar. IV: 668. The minutes from C253779 show that Jaquez was in court, in custody, on 03/20/09, after his arrest on 03/03/09, and remained in custody the entire time the case was pending, until he was sentenced to prison on 07/21/09. VI:711-20.

by the parties at any time, or sua sponte by a court of review, and cannot be conferred by the parties."); *Pershing Quicksilver Co. v. Thiers*, 62 Nev. 382, 387 (1944) ("[A] jurisdictional question may be raised for the first time on appeal.").

Because the jurisdiction of the juvenile court is statutory, the Court uses de novo review to interpret NRS 62D.310. *In the Matter of George J. v. State*, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 32, 279 P.3d 187, 189 (2012). The Court begins by examining the plain language of the statute. *Id*.

## NRS 62D.310 provides that:

- 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, the juvenile court shall make its final disposition of a case not later than 60 days after the date on which the petition in the case was filed.
- 2. The juvenile court may extend the time for final disposition of a case if the juvenile court files an order setting forth specific reasons for the extension:
- (a) Not later than 60 days after the date on which the petition in the case was filed; or
- (b) Later than 60 days after the date on which the petition in the case was filed, if the juvenile court finds that the extension would serve the interests of justice. In determining whether an extension would serve the interests of justice, the juvenile court shall consider:
- (1) The gravity of the act alleged in the case;
- (2) The reasons for any delay in the disposition of the case; and

- (3) The potential consequences to the child, any victim and the public of not extending the time for final disposition of the case.
- 3. The juvenile court shall not extend the time for final disposition of a case beyond 1 year from the date on which the petition in the case was filed.

Thus, the plain language of NRS 62D.310 indicates that the legislature prohibited the juvenile court from extending the final disposition of a petition beyond one year.

The final disposition of the juvenile petition in this case occurred on 09/27/10, when the juvenile court certified the case to adult court. But the juvenile petition was filed on 05/13/09 thereby making the final disposition of the petition outside the one year limit of NRS 62D.310.

The juvenile court minutes do not reflect any extensions ordered during the one year time limit. IV:702-10. But the certification order signed by the judge on 08/16/10 says: "[T]he proceedings in this matter be arrest until the time of the submission of the report from the Juvenile Probation Department. . ." IV:678. This brief stay occurred long after the one year time period had passed. Thus, the juvenile court lost jurisdiction over this petition and was without power to certify the case to district court because it did not follow the mandates of NRS 62D.310.

NRS 62D.310 is akin to a statute of limitations requiring dismissal when a case is not filed within a determined period. If the juvenile court did not have jurisdiction over the petition because more than one year had passed then the juvenile court's order certifying Jaquez's case to district court is void. *Landreth* at 166. Thus, the district court did not have jurisdiction to go forward with the case either.

#### C. Arrest warrants do not toll the time period within NRS 62D.310.

The second issue of first impression is whether the arrest warrant tolled the one year limitation of NRS 62D.310. Because NRS 62D.310 does not list an arrest warrant as an exception to the one year rule, an arrest warrant does not toll the time period for final deposition after the filing of a petition. Moreover, the State could have obtained the arrest warrant without filing the petition and then avoided the one year time limit by filing the petition at a later date.

When the State fails to serve an arrest warrant or serves the warrant but does not bring a defendant to court (even though the defendant is in State custody) then the State cannot claim the time period is tolled because the State intentionally failed to proceed on the petition. Jaquez was in the custody of the State from the time the arrest warrant issued and the 08/16/10 date for the juvenile hearing on the petition.

## D. Conscious indifference to rules of procedure.

The State's failure to bring Jaquez to juvenile court for more than one year not only violated NRS 62D.310, it violated his right to due process by showing that the prosecutor and the court had a conscious indifference to following the rules of procedure. This Court recognizes a policy of dismissing a cause of action in a criminal case due to a prosecutor's willful failure to comply with important procedural rules meant to protect a defendant's due process rights, such as delays a preliminary hearing or a contested hearing beyond the statutory time limit. *Maes v. Sheriff*, 86 Nev. 317, 319 (1970); *Joseph John H., a minor v. State*, 113 Nev. 621, 621-24 (1997); *Bustos v. Sheriff*, 87 Nev. 622, 623-24 (1071).

Here, the State made no attempt to comply with the one year rule of NRS 62D.310 thereby showing a conscious indifference to the rules of procedure and a violation of Jaquez's right to due process. U.S. Const. Amend. V, Amend IVX; Nev. Const. Art. 1 Sec. 8. Jaquez was prejudiced by the delay because the juvenile court factored in his conviction and sentence in C253779 at the certification hearing. IV:690-94.

///

28 ////

# II. JAQUEZ DID NOT MAKE A KNOWING AND INTELLIGENT WAIVER OF HIS RIGHT TO THE CERTIFICATION HEARING.

What procedures are required for a valid waiver of a certification hearing also appears to be a matter of first impression for this Court.

At the certification hearing on 09/27/10, the Defense attorney told the court that Jaquez waived his certification hearing. IV: 683. Thereafter, the court asked him a few questions as follows:

D. ATTN: No, he was just going to waive. . .there's no negotiations. . .

COURT: You've seen a copy of Petition 4, haven't you? SUBJECT MINOR: Yeah.

COURT: It says here that you committed a burglary. . You understand that, right?

SUBJECT MINOR: Yeah

COURT: ...[T]he second count ...says that you actually removed some property from the home during the burglary. You understand that also, right?

SUBJECT MINOR: Yeah.

COURT: . . you're asking the Court to go ahead and transfer this case, essentially granting the State's petition to transfer this case to the adult system for it to be what we call adjudicated, or resolved, in the adult system whether by trial or by a plea of some sort. You understand that?

SUBJECT MINOR: Yeah.

COURT: . . . .you talked to Ms. Maxey about the likelihood of me granting, or not granting, the State's request to transfer this case to the adult system, right?

SUBJECT MINOR: Yeah.

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