#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JAQUEZ DEJUAN BARBER,

Appellant,

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

V.

Respondent.

**Electronically Filed** Nov 26 2013 11:16 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 62649

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

**Appeal From Judgment of Conviction** Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

SHARON G. DICKINSON Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #003710 309 South Third Street, Suite 226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

own fingerprint analysis. Therefore, there is no <u>Crawford</u> violation under the plurality decision of <u>Williams</u>.

Justice Thomas provided the fifth vote in support of the <u>Williams</u> holding, rejecting what he called the plurality's "new primary purpose test." 132 S.Ct. at 2263 (Thomas, J., concurring in the judgment). Nonetheless, Justice Thomas concurred with the plurality that Cellmark's report was not testimonial. In Thomas's view, to satisfy the additional requirement, to be testimonial, a statement must possess sufficient "indicia of solemnity." <u>Id.</u> at 2259. Only "formalized testimonial materials, such as depositions, affidavits, and prior testimony, or statements resulting from formalized dialogue, such as custodial interrogation" satisfy that criterion. <u>Id.</u> at 2260. The Cellmark report was "neither sworn nor a certified declaration" and "[a]lthough the report was produced at the request of law enforcement, it was not the product of any sort of formalized dialogue resembling custodial interrogation." Id.

The same is true of FS Aoyama's limited reference to Vicki Farnham's report. Not only was the report never introduced into evidence, but it was never sworn or certified. It bore "no indicia of solemnity" and therefore the limited reference did not violate the Confrontation Clause. See id. at 2261 ("The Confrontation Clause does not require that evidence be reliable, but that the reliability of a specific 'class of testimonial statements' – formalized statements

bearing indicia of solemnity – be assessed through cross-examination.") (internal citations omitted). Therefore, FS Aoyama's testimony is also nontestimonial using the solemnity test from Justice Thomas's concurring opinion. Thus, five justices would find that FS Aoyama's statements were not testimonial under the Confrontation Clause.

Furthermore, this case is fundamentally distinguishable from Melendez-Diaz, Bullcoming, and Vega v. State, 126 Nev. \_, 236 P.3d 632 (2010). In Bullcoming, the trial court admitted a laboratory report of a non-testifying analyst that reflected that the defendant's blood alcohol content. 564 U.S. at \_, 131 S.Ct. at 2709. In Melendez-Diaz, the trial court admitted three certificates of analysis from a state laboratory which analyzed the substance seized by the defendant, concluding the substance was cocaine. 557 U.S. at 308, 129 S.Ct. at 2531. In Vega, the trial court allowed a doctor who did not examine the victim to testify to the substance of another non-testifying doctor's report. 126 Nev. at \_, 236 P.3d at 636. The report provided evidence that a sexual assault occurred. Id.

In these cases, the defendants were not given the chance to question the analyst who generated evidence used to convict them. Here, the live testimony absent in those cases is present. FS Aoyama testified to all of the fingerprint

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The Court noted that the evidence was a "bare-boned statement," and the defendant "did not know what tests the analyst performed, whether those tests were routine, and whether interpreting their results required the exercise of judgment or the use of skills that the analysts may not have possessed." 129 S.Ct. at 2537.

evidence that tied Appellant to the burglary, the protocols and procedures her laboratory uses, and the comparison test she ran on the latent prints recovered from the victim's home. Appellant had the opportunity to challenge her assertions through cross-examination. In contrast, Melendez-Diaz, Bullcoming, and Vega all involved defendants prosecuted based, in part, on scientific evidence created by a non-testifying witness.

At least one other state has held that an expert opinion independently derived and based, in part, on work performed by others is distinguishable from Melendez-Diaz and its progeny. Adopting an independent opinion rationale, the Washington Court of Appeals has repeatedly held that "a defendant's confrontation right is not violated if he or she has the opportunity to cross-examine a testifying expert that uses his or her *independent judgment*." State v. Manion, 173 Wash.App. 610, 627, 295 P.3d 270, 278 (2013) (emphasis added); see also State v. Lui, 153 Wash.App. 304, 322-23, 221 P.3d 948, 957-58 (2009) (holding that an expert's independently derived conclusions do not violate Crawford) (citing cases decided since Melendez-Diaz that have adopted the same rationale). An expert may partially base their opinions on forensic work performed by others, "so long

as the testifying expert has exercised independent judgment." Manion, 173 Wash.App. at 627, 295 P.3d at 278.<sup>20</sup>

FS Aoyama testified to her independent analysis, explaining the procedures she used, and how she matched Appellant to the recovered late print. She testified that AFIS is "just a tool" to generate a list of names, "what they call their top candidate and then so on down the line." 3 AA 545. But, just because you are a match in AFIC, you are not necessarily a match. "It's not like TV were it flashes 100 percent match. So you still have to look at it, look at the latent print itself, and look at the standard itself to do a side-by-side comparison." 3 AA 545. The comparing scientist generates the evidence that matches a defendant to a recovered latent print. FS Aoyama was the comparing scientist in this case.

FS Aoyama testified to the process she used to match Appellant's print to the latent print found at the scene of the burglary: "I did a side-by-side comparison of all the latents for value for comparison in this case against the three individuals, Mr. Barber, Mr. Martin, and Mr. Palmer." 3 AA 546. Her independent side-by-side comparison resulted in a match between Appellant's print and latent print 19F, taken from the exterior side of the point-of-entry bathroom window. <u>Id.</u> She knew

\_

The <u>Manion</u> court considered the Supreme Court's recent holding in <u>Williams</u> and found that <u>Williams</u> does not undermine the "independent opinion" rationale. 173 Wash.App. at 632, 295 P.3d at 280. Alone, the independent opinion rationale is sufficient to conclude there is no violation of <u>Crawford</u>. <u>Id.</u>, 295 P.3d at 281.

Appellant was a match because she "looked at standards from his left palm" and looked for "points of commonality" and "points of divergence." 3 AA 547.

Furthermore, Appellant had the opportunity to test the basis and reliability of FS Aoyama's analysis "in the crucible of cross-examination." <u>Crawford</u>, 541 U.S. at 60, 124 S.Ct. 1354. Appellant had the opportunity to attack the procedures FS Aoyama used, pointing out that there are no set procedural for determining a match. 3 AA 552. Appellant demonstrated that the match was primarily based on her judgment and that she compared the prints under a loupe or magnified, but did not measure the ridge distance of the prints. 3 AA 564, 569.

### B. Appellant Has Failed to Demonstrate Plain Error

Appellant failed to object to two of the three alleged Confrontation Clause violations. His failure to address, no less demonstrate, plain error is fatal. The absence of a timely challenge is fatal "because failure to object, assign misconduct, or request an instruction, will preclude appellate consideration." Garner v. State, 78 Nev. 366, 373, 374 P.2d 525, 529 (1962). An unpreserved issue may only be reviewed for plain error which is "so unmistakable that it reveals itself by a casual inspection of the record." Patterson v. State, 111 Nev. 1525, 1530, 907 P.2d 984, 987 (1995) (internal citations omitted); Sterling v. State, 108 Nev. 391, 394, 834 P.2d 400, 402 (1992). In determining whether an error is plain this Court must consider "whether there was 'error,' whether the error was 'plain' or clear, and

whether the error affected the defendant's substantial rights. Additionally, the burden is on the defendant to show actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003) (footnote omitted).

The first unpreserved statement Appellant complains violates his confrontation rights was the testimony that latent print Marnie Carter reviewed FS Aoyama's work:

State: Okay. And are these the cards that you were actually

given in this case that you're here testifying for?

Witness: It is - they are.

State: How do you know that?

Witness: My markings and initials on the front of the packet and

on the back of the packet.

State: Okay. I'm going to have you go ahead and – or actually,

do you know whether it was you yourself that sealed the

envelopes?

Witness: It was not.

State: Do you know who did?

Witness: The person who technically reviewed my work last,

which was Marnie Carter.

State: Okay. At one point though during this case did you

yourself actually review these cards?

Witness: I did.

State: And you know that because your –

Witness: My name is on the chain of custody or my initials are.

3 AA 538 (emphasis added). A casual inspection of the record demonstrates there was no <u>Crawford</u> violation. FS Aoyama was simply establishing the chain of custody. Appellant has not attempted to argue that this testimony amounts to plain error because he cannot.

Appellant also complains that the following testimony violated <u>Crawford</u>:

State: Okay. Is it possible that you were mistaken and it was

not a match to that – that palm print was not a match of

[Appellant] Barber?

Witness: No. State: Why?

Witness: This particular print has been looked at by four

scientists, and we all came up with the same conclusion.

3 AA 547-548 (emphasis added). This Court considered similar testimony in <u>Vega</u>, which involved the testimony of a doctor who did not examine the victim. 126 Nev. at , 236 P.3d at 637. That doctor testified to the observations, findings, and statements contained in the report of the examining doctor. Id. The State did not call the examining doctor to testify. Id. In addition to the written report, the examining doctor also prepared a video examination of the victim, depicted by diagram. Id. At trial, the testifying doctor offered her own independent opinion as an expert witness, based on the video examination and diagram. Id. This Court found that the testimony regarding the written report was a violation of Crawford but the independent opinion of the testifying doctor was not. 126 Nev. at , 236 P.3d at 638. Because Vega did not object to the testimony, this Court reviewed the Crawford violation for plain error and concluded that the testimony on the report did not amount to plain error because it was "duplicative" of the non-violating, independent opinion, testimony, and therefore "inconsequential." Id.

FS Aoyama's testimony that four other scientists came to the same conclusion as her is the definition of duplicative and inconsequential. The jury heard FS Aoyama testify to her independent expert conclusion. 3 AA 546-47. She explained the process of comparing a latent fingerprint to potential matches off of AFIS. 3 AA 545-46. She explained matching Appellant's print to the recovered print, finding no inconsistencies between the two prints. 3 AA 547. Any testimony that other scientists came to the same conclusion was duplicative. Therefore, Appellant cannot demonstrate plain error.

### VIII. The Restitution Order Is Not Plainly Erroneous

Appellant cannot demonstrate that the restitution amount was plainly erroneous because any minor discrepancy regarding the specific amount of restitution is explainable in light of the money taken from the victims and the damage done to their home. NRS 176.033 allows a district court to award restitution to the victims of any offense a defendant has been convicted of. "On appeal, this court generally will not disturb a district court's sentencing determination so long as it does not rest upon impalpable or highly suspect evidence." Martinez v. State, 115 Nev. 9, 12-13, 974 P.2d 133, 135 (1999). Further, a failure to object to a restitution order will limit this Court's review to plain error. Mendoza-Lobos v. State, 125 Nev. 634, 644, 218 P.3d 501, 507 (2009). To be plain, error must be "so unmistakable that it reveals itself by a casual inspection of the record." Patterson, 111 Nev. at

1530, 907 P.2d at 987. In determining whether an error is plain this Court must consider "whether there was 'error,' whether the error was 'plain' or clear, and whether the error affected the defendant's substantial rights. Additionally, the burden is on the defendant to show actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." Green, 119 Nev. at 545, 80 P.3d at 95.

The pre-sentence report did not recommend a restitution amount. 3 AA 645. The State requested \$7,000.00 in restitution. Id. Appellant did not object. 3 AA 644-51. Nor could he as the amount was reasonable on this record. The victims testified that \$6,300.00 worth of currency was taken from their home. 3 AA 461, 467, 469. The difference of \$700.00 is attributable to the damage Appellant did to the victims' home. The water spigot in their backyard was broken, the backyard was flooded, the window frame of their bathroom window was damaged and their home was ransacked. 3 AA 454-55, 459-61, 470, 475. Should this Court conclude that the record supporting the restitution amount warrants investigation, this Court should refrain from reversing Appellant's sentence and should instead remand the case for the limited purpose of inquiring into the \$700.00 difference. See Ryan's Express v. Amador Stage Lines, 128 Nev. , 279 P.3d 166, 172 (2012).

### IX.

### **Cumulative Error Does Not Warrant Reversal**

This Court has held that under the doctrine of cumulative error, "although individual errors may be harmless, the cumulative effect of multiple errors may

deprive a defendant of the constitutional right to a fair trial." Pertgen v.State, 110 Nev. 554, 566, 875 P.2d 361, 368 (1994); see also Big Pond v. State, 101 Nev. 1, 2, 692 P.2d 1288, 1289 (1985). When evaluating a claim of cumulative error this Court considers "(1) whether the issue of guilt is close, (2) the quantity and character of the error, and (3) the gravity of the crime charged." Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1195, 196 P.3d 465, 481 (Nev. 2008). Notably, a defendant "is not entitled to a perfect trial, but only a fair trial..." Ennis v. State, 91 Nev. 530, 533, 539 P.2d 114, 115 (1975).

As to the first factor, the evidence of guilt was overwhelming. Appellant's print was found at the point of entry into the victims' home. 3 AA 480, 496-7, 544-47. As to the second factor, there is no error; or, any error is minor and of an inconsequential nature. As to the final factor, the gravity of residential burglary is immense. Victims deal with the fear and the psychological consequences of residential burglary long after their homes are repaired and their property replaced. Appellant did not merely damage Mr. and Mrs. Mendoza's property and impose a hefty economic loss upon them, he violated their *home* and took from them the sense of security and safety inherent in what a home is supposed to be. Whether the Mendoza family will ever recover is outside the scope of this record.

///

///

### X. Any Error Was Harmless

NRS 178.598 governs harmless error, and provides that "[a]ny error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be Error is analyzed for harmlessness based on whether it was disregarded." constitutional or nonconstitutional in nature. Constitutional error is evaluated by the test laid forth in Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824 (1967). The Chapman test asks "whether it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." Tavares v. State, 117 Nev. 725, 732 n.14, 30 P.3d 1128, 1132 n.14 (2001) (quoting, Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 18, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 1830 (1999)). Nonconstitutional trial error is reviewed for harmlessness based on whether it had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict. Knipes v. State, 124 Nev. 927, 935, 192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008). Even if this Court were to find error, any error was nothing more substantial than mere harmless error.

### **CONCLUSION**

In light of the foregoing arguments, the State respectfully requests that this Court AFFIRM Appellant's conviction.